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ABSTRACT: The net financial position of a firm represents an information item concerning the financial situation of a firm. This 

value provides valuable information about the financial balance or imbalance of firms. This figure is very useful on an informational 

level only if the reader knows its exact composition. Regarding this issue, doctrinaire positions vary and sometimes present very 

significant diseases. For such a posture to be used effectively to manage the enterprise and to understand its business situation, 

it is necessary to understand its content and composition. The net financial position of an enterprise represents an informative 

element concerning the financial crisis of an enterprise. This value provides valuable information about the financial balance or 

imbalance of companies. This figure is instrumental on an informative level -only if the reader knows its exact composition. 

Regarding this issue, doctrinaire positions vary and sometimes present very significant diseases. For such mail to be used 

effectively to manage the enterprise and to understand its business situation, it is  necessary to understand its content and 

composition 

1. BRIEF INTRODUCTORY REMARKS 

Generally, the simplified definition of net financial position is as follows: net financial position is the difference between a firm's 

receivables and its financial debts. 

Many textbooks use the following simplified formula: NFP (i.e., net financial position) = financial payables - financial receivables - 

cash. 

Therefore, the calculation of NFP is not a simple task, but a complex equation that involves Financial debts ("interest bearing 

debts"), Debts similar to financial debts ("debt like items"), Severance pay and TFM, Cash and cash equivalents ("cash"), and Assets 

similar to cash ("cash equivalents"). This complexity, as we will see, is a key aspect of understanding the net financial position. 

Our journey through the following pages will reveal that the concept of net financial position is far from a simple, one-size-fits-all 

definition. We will explore the diverse interpretations of NFP that have emerged in recent years, as articulated by scholars and 

study centres, and the intriguing impact of these notions on companies. 

Understanding the net financial position requires the summation of precedently reclassified balance sheet aggregates. In the next 

chapter, we will highlight some reclassifications proposed by the doctrine. This is crucial to get the overall picture of the situation 

and underscores the importance of your role in determining the effectiveness of the reaggregation of balance sheet assets and 

liabilities to determine NFP. 

Before addressing these issues, it is necessary to point out a very relevant observation. Since the reclassifications proposed by the 

doctrine are multiple and distinguished by the use of equal terms to define distinct aggregates or different vocabularies to identify 

equal aggregations, it is necessary to understand how it is indispensable that whoever uses the value of NFP to express an opinion 

on the company's financial position, is aware of the balance sheet reaggregation used and the composition of the aggregates 

summed for NFP determination. 

Using net financial position as a piece of information about the company's financial position without knowing what reclassification 

the analyst who calculated the NFP used and not knowing the aggregates included in the overall summation is extremely 

dangerous and potentially misleading. 

The figure itself only means something if the calculation methodology of the aggregate under study is fully understood. Therefore, 

it is also recommended that companies that include NFP in documents intended for third parties indicate all of the above 

information as its absence would render the aggregate being calculated and interpreted, namely NFP, meaningless. 
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2. BALANCE SHEET RECLASSIFICATION USEFUL IN DETERMINING NET FINANCIAL POSITION 

Reclassifying the balance sheet to determine the aggregates that make up the summation leading to the net financial position 

calculation is a crucial step. This process provides a clear starting point and simplifies the calculation. 

It's important to note that calculating the net financial position based on the non-reclassified balance sheet significantly 

complicates all calculations. This is due to the lack of information regarding individual items, underscoring the necessity of a 

reclassified balance sheet. 

The essential notions required to calculate the net financial position, in its various meanings, are as follows: 

- Financial items: these items identify financial receivables and payables, i.e., those bilateral relationships in which an entity lends 

money to another entity. 

- Operating assets: scholars and practice have attributed various completely differentiated notions to such assets. Some authors 

interpret operational assets as a synonym for characteristic assets. On the other hand, other authors differentiate the two assets 

by making the characteristic asset, capital asset (i.e., concerning non-typical business investments) and financial asset fall under 

the operational asset. From this brief consideration, it can be understood how to attribute meaning to NFP; it is necessary to know 

what meaning has been given to the term operating assets if the latter is used to determine the items to be included in the 

calculation of NFP; Operating asset items are the accounting items arising from the performance of operating assets.  

- Patrimonial asset items: these items are the accounting items arising from the performance of operating assets.  All the 

considerations outlined in the previous point apply to operating asset items. It is well understood, then, how knowledge of the 

exact composition of the aggregates summed for the purpose of determining NFP is, not useful, but rather indispensable so that 

the interpretation of this aggregate does not lead to erroneous and misleading judgments 

All the considerations outlined in the previous point apply to operating asset items. It is well understood, then, how knowledge of 

the exact composition of the aggregates added together to determine NFP is, not useful but indispensable so that the 

interpretation of this aggregate does not lead to erroneous and misleading judgments 

- Liquidity: There are generally no interpretation problems in this post. Liquidity always tends to be the sum of cash and the bank. 

The only problem is the presence of active banks and passive banks. The former should be included in liquidity; the second should 

be considered a financial debt.On the following pages we will see how, in some cases, NFP is calculated using al-ther values. In 

those cases, we will explain the posts not illustrated so far. 

To understand the difficulty of illustrating the above items, it is necessary to point out how each scholar often uses terms that, 

for other authors, possess other meanings. Therefore, in the following pages, we will propose some reclassifications illustrated by 

doctrine. The non-comparableness of the schemes requires that, when calculating the NFP, we specify the real meaning of the 

terms used to identify the aggregates that lead to the determination of the NFP. With such further explanation, the NFP value 

determined could be understood correctly and correctly because the source data may be understood correctly. 

We begin the illustration of some balance sheet reclassifications by starting with the diagram that is part of the integrated 

information system. 

 

RECLASSIFICATION SCHEME BALANCE SHEET/BUDGET  BALANCE SHEET IMPLEMENTED AS PART OF AN INTEGRATED 

INFORMATION SYSTEM. 

ASSETS 31/12/N LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 31/12/N 

SHORT-TERM ASSETS  SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES  

          

1. Immediate liquidity  1. Short-term financial 

liabilities 

 

          

2. Deferred liquidity       

 * Trade receivables       

          

 * Financial liquidity       

     2. Short-term tax liabilities  

 * Tax-deferred income       

          

 * Non-characteristic deferred income 
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3.   Availability (inventories)   3. Short-term non-financial 

liabilies 

 

        

4.  Short-term assets non-

characeristic 

       

          

5.  Advances to trade 

suppliers 

 

       

LONG-TERM ASSETS  LONG-TERM LIABILITIES  

          

1. Long-term tangible assets  1. Long-term  financia liabilities  

          

2. Long-term intangible assets       

     2. Long-term tax liabilities  

3. Long-term credit assets       

  * Trade accounts receivable       

          

  * Financial assets       

     3. Long-term non financial 

liabilities 

 

  * Tax assets       

          

  * Non-typical accounts receivable       

          

     EQUITY   

4. Long-term assets non characteristic       

          

Stand-alone items  Stand-alone items  

          

NET ASSETS  BALANCE TOTAL  

 

• Immediate liquid assets include everything that is already cash and related liquid assets; 

• - deferred cash includes only and exclusively short-term receivables. The division of this aggregate into four micro-aggregates 

(commercial, financial, tax, and noncharacteristic by definition) is necessary for determining a range of income and financial 

ratios; 

• - commercial deferred cash includes substantially all short-term commercial receivables net of allowance for doubtful 

accounts; 

• - deferred financial liquidity includes all receivables of a short-term financial nature; 

• - tax-deferred cash includes all receivables of a tax and social security/welfare short-term nature; 

• - noncharacteristic deferred liquidity includes all future income (realizable within 12 months) not already included in previous 

aggregates, which has the characteristic of not being able to be considered as belonging to typical business operations. 

Consider, for example, receivables related to a sale of multi-year assets. It is evident how, by theoretical definition, this 

receivable cannot be included in the performance of typical corporate assets (otherwise, the receivable would be from 

customers). For this reason, it can be included in this sub-aggregate; 

• - short-term assets comprise all accounting items held for purposes such as securities/shares held with the purpose of sale 

within the successive year; 

• - liquid assets constitute the total inventories of the enterprise; 
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• - tangible long-term assets include everything that will provide the enterprise, through the initiation of the production process, 

with income in the long term and which, at the same time, has fisicity; 

• - the intangible long-term asset, on the other hand, consists of everything that will provide the enterprise, through the initiation 

of the production process, with long-term income but which, at the same time, is not endowed with physicality; 

• - The division of long-term credit assets into 4 micro-aggregates (commercial, financial, tax, and non-characteristic by 

definition) is necessary. This detailed classification aids in the accurate determination of a range of income and financial ratios, 

providing a comprehensive view of an enterprise's financial standing. 

• - commercial long-term credit assets include all long-term trade receivables net of allowance for doubtful accounts; 

• - the long-term financial credit asset includes all receivables of a long-term financial nature; 

• - tax long-term receivable asset includes all long-term tax and social security/welfare receivables; 

• - Long-term non-characteristic credit assets, by definition, include all future income (realizable beyond 12 months) not already 

included in previous aggregates, which have the characteristic of not being able to be considered as belonging to typical 

business operations. Consider, for example, receivables related to a sale of multi-year assets. It is evident how, by theoretical 

definition, this receivable cannot be included in the performance of typical corporate assets (otherwise, the receivable would 

be from customers). For this reason, it can be included in this sub-aggregate; 

• - Long-term patrimonial assets, a significant aspect of financial reporting, include long-term items that identify capital 

investments. Examples of such items may be civil buildings and the securities and participations in balance sheet not for 

speculative purposes but intended as a lasting investment in the company; 

• - Stand-alone items, a concept that is essential to understand in financial reporting, are those that cannot be explained here. 

For the reasons why it is essential to include this item in the reclassified balance sheet, the reader is referred to the analysis of 

patrimonial items below; 

• - short-term financial liabilities include all debts of an economic nature that will result in monetary outgoings within one year; 

•  

- short-term tax liabilities include all debts of a tax and social security/welfare nature that will result in monetary outflows within 

one year; 

- short-term non-financial liabilities include all non-tax and non-financial liabilities that will result in monetary outlays within one 

year; 

- long-term financial liabilities include all debts of a financial nature that will result in monetary outgoings beyond one year; 

- long-term tax liabilities include all tax and residential/welfare liabilities that will result in monetary outlays beyond one year; 

- non-financial long-term liabilities include all non-tax and non-financial liabilities that will result in monetary outlays beyond the 

year; 

- equity is interpreted as the firm's wealth that will result substantially in the firm's ultimate output. Only when the firm is put into 

liquidation will net worth become a future output; 

- stand-alone items: it is impossible here to explain why it is necessary to add this particular aggregate. For the reasons why it is 

essential to include this item in the reclassified balance sheet, the reader is referred to the analysis of patrimonial items below 

In conclusion, it is necessary to explain why, in addressing the issue of valuable reclassification for analysis, this "financial" re-

grouping was defined by using quotation marks. The quotation marks of the term identify the circumstance that the locution takes 

on spurious meaning, at least in some reclassification hypotheses. As the reader will have the opportunity to verify in the following 

pages, for some particular items, the pure financial reclassification gives way to a "spurious" re-grouping in which the 

consideration of the mere maturity of the impact on liquidity takes second place to other considerations that lead to the insertion 

of these items in aggregates other than those that, at first glance, might seem to be the best "reclassification dislocation."   

Financial reclassification embedded in an integrated information system is the most analytical re-aggregation that doctrine has 

identified. In the writer's opinion, as will be read in the following pages, this reclassification represents the best scheme to 

comprehend the company's financial-monetary situation, an objective, of course, that is achieved medially by contextual 

interpretation of the cash-flow statement. 

Also, for determining the net financial position, whichever composition of this aggregate is considered more correct, the above 

reclassification provides the quantitative values that are useful for determining NFP. As we shall have occasion to point out later, 

this is not the case with the other reclassifications proposed by the doctrine. 

Given the reclassification at hand, it's imperative to grasp the emergence of other types of schedules that may not offer a 

similar level of analyticity. It's worth noting that the reclassifications we'll be discussing contain items with ambiguous names, as 

they are interpreted differently by various entities. 
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The re-grouping process, based on the criterion of investment allocation and source constraint, is of paramount importance, 

despite its limited usefulness for analysis. This process necessitates the division of assets into fixed and liquid categories. While 

these categories may have non-unique definitions, it's generally accepted that: 

- fixed assets are formed by the values that are to be permanently maintained (in the company), (i.e., values that) in the 

company. That is, the value that cannot be sold or mobilize  

- available assets constitute the set of all accounting items that can mobilize without harming the enterprise 

Therefore, the discriminating element between fixed and disposable assets lies in the durable or nondurable permanence of 

certain accounting items and the possibility of selling the values that are the subject of interest without such an operation 

permanently damaging the company's management. 

According to this approach, the elements of liabilities are generally divided according to their maturity and thus into short-term, 

long-term, and equity. 

As seen in the preceding pages, managers of enterprises, when implementing balance sheet analysis, are primarily interested in 

checking the enterprise's financial strength. However, reclassification according to the allocation of investments is unable to meet 

this information need because the analysis of asset values completely disregards their sca-denza/liquidity. 

Therefore, it is not believed that the reclassification scheme presented here can be advantageously used for the management 

analysis of enterprises, whether of small or large dimensions. Using this reclassification to calculate net financial position is also 

not practical since it needs evidence of some useful aggregates in the summation of assets and liabilities that enable the 

determination of NFP. 

version) 

Re-aggregation, according to the link that can be found between elements of the patrimonial assets and the company's 

production c-cycle ( which, again, presents minimal usefulness for the purposes of management analysis), provides that the assets 

of the patrimonial state are divided into fixed assets and current assets according to whether the asset elements considered 

participate in several production cycles or are substantially exhausted within the same cycle. 

The re-aggregation process eliminates the limitations of the previous classification. It ensures that the category of fixed assets 

includes only fixed assets and excludes the fixed part of liquid assets. Similarly, the category of current assets includes only liquid 

assets and excludes the available part of fixed assets. 

The considerations made regarding the previously illustrated scheme also apply to this reclassification structure.  

Therefore, using the structure analyzed here cannot be proposed as a useful managerial tool to deepen the company's financial 

situation.  

Re-aggregation according to the functional-operational criterion ( whose usefulness for management analysis purposes is minimal) 

involves comparing characteristic and nontypical management.  

The purpose of such a reclassification “is to obtain a balance-sheet format that reproduces the distinction between uses and 

sources related to core operations and those arising from other questions (patrimonial, financial, and fiscal)” (Coda, Brunetti, 

Airoldi, 2005). 

For the information that can be drawn from such a reclassification structure to be, by users, immediately intelligible, it is advisable 

to adopt a progressive (or scalar), rather than an opposing section scheme. 

The structure of such a reclassification, as outlined by Coda, Brunetti, Airoldi in 2005, can be briefly identified as follows1: 

DEFERRED LIQUIDITY 

+ CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

___________________________________________________________ 

 CURRENT ASSETS FROM ORDINARY OPERATIONS 

 

- CURRENT LIABILITIES FROM OPERATIONS 

___________________________________________________________ 

 NET WORKING CAPITAL OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

 

+ TECHNICAL FIXED ASSETS 

+ INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 

- SEVERANCE FUND 

___________________________________________________________ 

                                                 
1 . Coda-Brunetti-Airoldi, Lezioni di economia aziendale, p. 366. 
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 NET INVESTED CAPITAL 

 

SO FINANCED: 

 

NET FINANCIAL POSITION 

(derived from the algebraic sum of financial receivables and payables) 

 

TAX FUND 

EQUITY CAPITAL 

 

The adoption of this structure calls to mind the reclassification of the income statement to cost of sales and revenues-allows 

one to derive information about the forms of financing that the enterprise has adopted to meet the needs arising from the 

performance of typical and extra-typical assets, respectively.  

While recognizing implicit usefulness to this structure, it is believed that the most immediate information need of a firm's 

managers concerns the verification of the existence of short- and long-term financial balance. This need, however, cannot be met 

immediately by the application of the structure illustrated above since this analysis concerns the separation, not between short 

and long term (as is the case with pure financial reclassification), but between uses/sources inherent in characteristic assets (short 

and long term) and uses/sources relative to the performance of other business assets. 

Therefore, the use of the reclassification structure of the "economic-functional" type can only be proposed as a tool to refine 

and deepen the information that can be drawn from a scheme that can satisfy the primary information needs of managers, a 

scheme that, as we had to point out earlier, is identified in the reclassification carried out according to the "financial" criterion. 

Also, in this scheme, net financial position is cited as the difference between financial receivables and payables, a circumstance 

that is not always shared by doctrine and practice. 

After this brief overview of the main reclassifications proposed by the doctrine, it's important to note that the financial 

reclassification included in the integrated information system is designed for ease of use and clarity. It presents such analyticity 

that it makes it easy to determine the NFP, even if one wanted only to contrast between financial payables and receivables. These 

items, in the last reclassification mentioned, are highlighted as aggregates, a feature not present in the other regrouping schemes. 

In these other schemes, even if one wanted to focus attention only on these items, they are not highlighted separately but must 

be calculated by the analyst without these being part of a complete overall scheme of each financial/equity item. 

If NFP is determined by aggregating other values, which is possible, as seen in the following pages, the only useful reclassification 

is the one entered in the integrated information system. If NFP is determined by summing other aggregates as well, the only 

scheme that highlights all the items essential for the purpose of calculation is the reclassification mentioned above. All other 

schemes do not particularly highlight the items that, for some, must be included in the NFP anyway. In the opinion of the writer, 

therefore, regardless of the formula chosen to calculate the net financial position, it is indispensable to use the reclassification 

just mentioned, as this ensures the identification of every item useful for the purpose of calculating the net financial position, 

whatever the composition adopted by the analyst. 

 

3)THE CONCEPT OF NET FINANCIAL POSITION PROPOSED BY DOCTRINE AND RESEARCH CENTERS 

The net financial position is an indicator of financial performance that, when used appropriately, can help to understand 

whether the company is experiencing a financial crisis opportunity or is about to enter a period of financial distress. 

This aggregate, the components of which will be analyzed in the following pages, is often considered one of the most significant 

indicators for assessing a state of corporate crisis. The writer disagrees with this assertion because a corporate crisis, whether 

financial, earnings or global, can only be assessed by the systemic and systematic interpretation of a set of ratios whose 

intertwining allows an understanding of the corporate situation. NFP is a less relevant indicator in the context of financial analysis 

because, regardless of the formula used, the focus is only on items of financial nature. This is reductive because the company's 

financial situation can only be understood if, alongside financial items, items of a current or carat-touristic nature are also 

considered. 

 Despite the above considerations, there is no doubt about the net financial position. 

In this regard, however, an issue of no small concern should be noted. The notion of NFP is by no means unambiguous. On the 

contrary, in doctrine and practice, one can see very different calculations leading to determining the aggregate analyzed here. 

In the presence of multiple formulas of the net financial position, it is essential for the interpreter of corporate data to know, 

in-depth and analytically, the composition of the aggregates that led to the calculation from the NFP. Only an awareness of the 
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structure of the NFP being analyzed can, in fact, help to understand the corporate financial position. On the contrary, the mere 

value of that aggregate, without knowledge of its composition, not only prevents the use of the value for the purpose of 

understanding the company's situation but can, even, lead to making erroneous and misleading judgments about the company 

because of the different composition from the NFP of the one the analyst thinks was used. 

Therefore, it's imperative that the determination of NFP is always supplemented by an analytical illustration of its composition. 

Without this information, the value of the net financial position is not only useless but can also be potentially misleading. This 

emphasis on the composition of NFP is crucial for making the NFP value useful and not misleading. 

The net financial position gained relevance in terms of study and pragmatically when the OIC ( Organismo Italiano di Contabilità, 

i.e., the organisation that issues accounting standards and helps the legislature when the latter has to enact laws related to the 

financial report.  )issued Document No. 6 Debt Restructuring and Financial Reporting. Although that document is no longer in 

effect as of 2017, regarding NFP, we can draw valuable insights regarding the standard definition that was and still is attributed to 

this aggregate. 

The OIC 6 Debt Restructuring and Disclosure document plays a pivotal role in our understanding of the net financial position. It 

states that the NFP is considered an alternative performance indicator, without a specific definition of its calculation within the 

context of national and international accounting standards (IFRS). 

For net financial position, accounting doctrine and practice have developed different ways of calculation; the best known and 

most widely used require information about 'short-term debt and medium- to long-term debt."  

Later, we will take up the composite definition illustrated in Document 6 OIC.  

For now, we will focus on the various definitions attributed to this aggregate.  

NFP is frequently defined as the difference between financial debt and financial receivables. 

NFP version 1 

 

 

NFP= otal financial receivables - total financial debts 

 

 

 

Notably, such a definition is not marked by actual usefulness since a similar difference, in the writer's opinion, needs to provide 

significant information regarding the enterprise's financial situation. There is no reference to the maturities of payables and 

receivables, and focusing only on financial values does not provide significant information about the financial balance of an 

enterprise. Other items, e.g. commercial, could make up for financial deficits that, at certain times in the life of companies, are, 

among other things, only momentary. 

Therefore, the mere difference between financial receivables and financial payables is not a useful definition for in-formative 

purposes regarding the company's situation. 

As has been pointed out in OIC 6, a universally accepted definition of NFP does not exist. That is why, in some works, the 

aggregate of net financial position is determined by the summation of other data than the above. 

In an article in Il sole 24 ore of Nov. 20, 2019 (leading Italian economic-financial newspaper), "Private equity and debt. EBITDA and 

financial position matter.", NFP is shown as the difference between exposure to the financial system(banks first and foremost) 

and active cash. This underscores the significance of your work in understanding and analyzing NFP's role in the financial system.. 

NFP version 2 

 

 

NFP= exposure to the financial system (primarily passive banks )- cash assets 

 

 

 

This definition, in the writer's opinion, does not provide any valuable information to the analyst as the summation proposed above 

does not allow any judgment on the company's financial position. 

Also in a 2016 article in Il sole 24 ore online, NFP is defined as follows: Net financial position is the difference between financial 

debt, regardless of temporal maturity, short-term financial assets and cash and cash equivalents. Net financial position can be 
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negative; in this case, net financial debt is often used as a synonym. If, on the contrary, it is positive, it means that the company 

has "cash" and is referred to as "net cash". 

NFP version 3 

 

 

NFP= financial debts - financial assets including cash and cash equivalents. 

 

 

 

 

In this case, the proposed definition is close to the first definition given in the previous pages, with the difference in adding cash 

and cash equivalents. Again, however, the lack of any reference to the maturity dates of financial payables and receivables and 

the focus only on these items does not have a very high significance.  

Another position is found by analyzing when stated by Bigi. According to this author, "Net financial position (or N.F.P.) or Net 

Financial Debt represents the sum of all debts of a company's financial nature to be valued net of cash and cash equivalents and 

assimilated assets: it can be a very interesting indicator of a company's financial health." 2 

 

NFP version 4 

 

 

NFP= debts of a financial nature - cash and cash equivalents and similar items 

 

 

 

From the above, it can be understood that the definition of NFP is not unanimous and has numerous differentiations. These are 

accentuated in OIC Document No. 6 as, in principle, a complete and comprehensive definition of NFP is proposed. The reader is 

referred to the following pages for an illustration of definition above indicated. 

Before analyzing the definition of NFP illustrated by standard OIC 6, no longer applicable since 2017 but equally useful for 

determining a significant definition of NFP, it is important to recall how CONSOB ((Consob is the Companies and Stock Exchange 

Commission. This commission is the Italian analogue of the American Sec.), in Communication no. DEM/6064293 of 28-7-2006, 

having as its object the Corporate disclosure of listed issuers and issuers with financial instruments that are widespread among 

the public under Article 116 of the TUF - Requests under Article 114, paragraph 5, of Legislative Decree 58/98, points out that “In 

this regard, under Article 114, paragraph 5, of Legislative Decree no. 58 of February 24, 1998, we invite companies issuing financial 

instruments listed on regulated Italian markets and companies with financial instruments circulated among the public under 

Article 116 of Legislative Decree No. 58/98 to provide the following disclosure...[.....]  

On NFP,  Consob states: 

"….. In the notes to the financial statements, the amount of the net financial position must be disclosed, giving details of its main 

components and an indication of the debt and credit positions vis-à-vis related parties. To define net financial position, reference 

is made to what is indicated on the subject in the CESR Recommendation of February 10, 2005, "Recommendations for the Uniform 

Implementation of the European Commission's Regulation on Prospectuses." This document is also available on the European 

Commission's website."  

In the CESR document, RECOMMENDATIONS FOR THE UNIFORM IMPLEMENTATION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMISSION 

REGULATION ON DISCLOSURE PROSPECTS (*) - FEBRUARY 10, 2005- a number of definitions were outlined to which companies to 

which Consob had sent the above-mentioned communication had to refer. Specifically, in that CESR document, definitions were 

provided for: 

"I. Introduction Paragraphs 1 - 19. 

II. Aspects related to financial reporting 

Selected financial information Statement of operating and financial position  

Financial resources  

                                                 
2 Bigi R., il commercialista telematico 13 dic. 2017 
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Forecasts or estimates of earnings  

Financial information regarding past years  

Pro forma financial information  

Financial information not extracted from the issuer's audited financial statements.  

Interim financial information  

Statements regarding working capital  

Own funds and indebtedness  

III Non-financial information items 

1. Specialized issuers  

1a - real estate companies  

1b - mining companies  

1c - companies operating in the field of scientific research  

1d - companies that have started assets for less than three years (start-up companies)  

1e - shipping companies  

2. Clarification on the various points - 

2a - Property, plant and equipment Paragraph.  

2b - Compensation Paragraphs  

Consob, as the regulatory authority, has mandated the use of the definitions in the CESR recommendation to define the concepts 

of financial debts and credits. 

In these documents, however, it is impossible to identify a precise and analytical definition of NFP. The Consob communication 

mentioned above and the CESR recommendation do not identify a complete and comprehensive illustration of the net financial 

position.  

In 2008, IRDEC issued a management report paper that indicates a definition of net financial position that calls to mind the 

aggregate suggested by OIC Document No. 6. 

The significance of this aggregate is substantiated by the fact that the summation of values divides, in part, what is short-term 

from what, on the contrary, is long-term. This applies  

however, only for financial debts. 

The aggregate proposed by IRDEC in 2008 is as follows: 

Version IRDEC 2008 

cash 

+ other cash and cash equivalents 

+securities held for trading 

a)Cash and cash equivalents 

(b)Current financial receivables 

Current bank debt 

+part of non-current debt 

+Other current financial debt 

c)Current financial debt 

d)Net current financial debt( c)-b)-a)) or current or short-term NFP 

 

Non-current bank debt 

+bonds issued 

+other non-current debt 

(e) Non-current financial debt  

(f) Net financial debt (d) + (e)) or total NFP 

 

 

 

As can be seen from the above table, IRDEC proposes a division between short-term financial debt and long-term financial debt 

but does not divide, in a consistent manner, financial receivables. In the chart, long-term financial receivables need to be included 

since net NFP is derived from the sum of cash, short-term or current financial receivables, and total financial debt (short-term and 

long-term).  
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The writer disagrees with this aggregate because it is inconsistent to consider both short-term and long-term financial debts and 

includes only short-term financial receivables and cash in the summation. 

Also in 2013, in Paper No. 22, The recognition of indicators in the management report. Net financial position, IRDCEC arrives at 

the same considerations as above based on the following determinations/definitions: 

(a) Cash and readily liquid assets (< 3 months) 

 (b) Short-term financial assets (< 12 months) 

Short-term financial receivables 

Short-term securities 

Short-term financial receivables from subsidiaries/associates 

Other short-term financial assets 

Short-term (financial) accrued income and prepaid expenses 

(...) 

 (c) Medium- to long-term financial assets (> 12 months) 

M/l-term financial receivables 

M/l-term securities 

M/l-term financial receivables vs. subsidiaries/associates 

Other m/l-term financial assets 

Multi-year accrued income and prepaid expenses (financial) 

(...) 

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS (a+b+c) 

 (d) Short-term financial debts 

Current account overdrafts 

Short-term financial debts 

Payables to/from factoring companies 

Payables to/from leasing companies 

In summary then, IRDEC has re-proposed the FFN composition of 2008. 

IRDEC version 2013 document No. 22, The inclusion of indicators in the management report. 

 

(a) Cash and readily liquid assets (< 3 months) 

 

(b) Short-term financial assets (< 12 months) 

Short-term financial receivables 

Short-term securities 

Short-term financial receivables from subsidiaries/associates 

Other short-term financial assets 

Short-term (financial) accrued income and prepaid expenses 

(...) 

 

(c) Medium- to long-term financial assets (> 12 months) 

M/l-term financial receivables 

M/l-term securities 

M/l-term financial receivables vs. subsidiaries/associates 

Other m/l-term financial assets 

Multi-year accrued income and prepaid expenses (financial) 

(...) 

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS (a+b+c) 

 

(d) Short-term financial debts 

Current account overdrafts 

Short-term financial debts 

Payables to/from factoring companies 

Payables to/from leasing companies 
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Short-term payables to other lenders 

Short-term accounts payable to subsidiaries/associates 

Short-term accrued expenses and deferred income (financial) 

(...) 

(e) Medium- to long-term financial debts 

Debts vs. banks 

Debenture loans 

M/l-term interest-bearing payables to shareholders 

Financial debts to subsidiaries and affiliates 

Debts vs/other lenders 

Debts vs/leases 

Long-term accrued expenses and deferred income (financial) 

(...) 

TOTAL FINANCIAL DEBTS (d+e) 

SHORT-TERM net financial position 

Net financial position I level = (a-d) 

Net financial position II level = (a+b) - d 

LONG-TERM net financial position 

Net financial position I level (a) - (d+e) 

Net financial position II level (a+b) - (d+e) 

Overall net financial position = (a+b+c) - (d+e) 

 

-More than the composition of the net financial position proposed by IRDCEC, what assumes considerable relevance is the 

conclusion reached by that research institute. After highlighting the proposed determination of the net financial position above, 

the IRDCEC states verbatim that “it constitutes only one of the possible approaches that can be taken.” 

All this demonstrates that the awareness is alive that the locutions used by doctrine and practice to identify financial (and 

income) aggregates will continue to be marked by substantial and formal differences regarding their composition and 

determination. 

The National Foundation of Chartered Accountants, in the paper "The net financial position co-as a performance indicator," 

Document September 15, 2015, points out that by far used in the balance sheet analysis aimed at assessing the sustainability 

of financial debt repayment, the Net financial position (NFP for short) indicator. This is an alternative performance model that, 

together with other ratios, allows to va-lute: 

- the company's overall level of indebtedness; 

- the soundness of the capital structure, when compared with equity, which takes the name "financial debt ratio" (NFP/equity); 

- the debt repayment capacity when compared with sales, a case where it is termed "debt absorption ratio" (NFP/Sales). 

This value results from the algebraic sum of financial magnitudes, whether short- or medium- to long-term. 

NFP = 

+ Financial debt (at LT and MLT) 

- Immediate availability 

- Deferred availability 

The document mentioned above of the National Foundation of Certified Public Accountants points out that the synthetic indicator 

expresses the ability to cover financial debts in relation only to immediate and deferred cash and cash equivalents at a specific 

date: a positive value of the indicator indicates a stock of financial debts at that date greater than the liquidity potentially available 

on an immediate basis. It is, therefore, an indicator of the company's overall financial debt. 

The indicator can also be calculated as the difference between only short-term financial debts and immediate and deferred cash, 

in this case offering a 

summary of the sustainability of only the short-term financial debts generated by financial debts. 

In this sense, the rationale behind the determination of net financial position is to be found in the desirability of purifying current 

assets and current liabilities, as well as 

fixed assets and fixed liabilities, from all those components that, in one way or another, are attributable to the company's 

operations, to dwell on specifically financial assets and debts. In the latter case, it is a matter of understanding how financial 

investments, by their natural location, which are more easily liquidated, 
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can ensure the payment of financial debts and possibly, residually, be put back into the company's monetary circuit. 

Rather than responding to specific cognitive purposes, the magnitude highlights components outside the operating area (already 

included in the asset side determination) and attributable, lato  

sensu, to the corporate financial structure. First, the net financial position differs depending on whether the asset-side valuation 

was based on cash flows or expected 

income; variations cannot be assumed in external information. 

The accurate determination of NFP hinges on the reclassification of certain balance sheet data from a financial perspective. It is 

crucial for the company to furnish the analyst with data on its financial ratios that are as precise and reliable as possible, as these 

ratios play a significant role in the calculation of NFP. 

As previously highlighted, the reclassification of the balance sheet is a pivotal step in calculating the net financial position. The 

level of analytical detail in the reclassification directly impacts the accuracy of the NFP. The financial reclassification, as illustrated 

in the preceding pages and integrated into the information system, is considered the most analytical scheme proposed by doctrine. 

It is, therefore, the most effective structure for determining the net financial position.  

The document issued by the National Foundation of Certified Public Accountants identifies various notions of NFP. In concise 

terms, that paper outlines the following concepts of net financial position: 

Net short-term first-tier financial position = Readily liquid financial assets 

 - Short-term financial debts 

Readily liquidate financial assets are basically defined as cash and bank, 

government securities, other securities (as long as they can be easily monetized), stocks held for 

speculation, etc. 

Short-term financial debts, on the other hand, are considered to be financial debts to subsidiaries, associates, parent companies, 

bank debts, factoring debts, bank advances, 

accrued liabilities, etc. 

Short-term net financial position of the second level = 

Readily liquid financial assets 

+ Short-term financial assets 

- Short-term financial debts 

In addition to the previous two classes of values, short-term financial assets are found in this configuration, which include: financial 

receivables from subsidiaries, associates and control lants, securities that cannot be readily liquidated, and financial accrued 

income and prepaid expenses,ecc.. 

Net financial position at medium and long-term first level 

Readily liquid financial assets 

- Total financial debts 

In addition to financial assets and short-term financial debts, M/L-term financial debts such as bank loans, promissory notes, so-

ci debts, financial debts to subsidiaries, associates and parent companies, debts from 

leases, etc. 

Medium- and long-term net financial position of second-tier 

Readily liquid financial assets 

+ Short-term financial assets 

- Total financial debts 

Medium and long-term net financial position of third level or overall 

Readily liquidate financial assets 

+ Short-term financial assets 

+ Medium and long-term financial assets 

- Total financial debts: To define total NFP, medium- and long-term financial assets are also considered, including financial 

receivables from subsidiaries, affiliates and parent companies, securities 

fixed assets, equity investments, other medium- and long-term financial receivables, multi-year accruals, etc.. 

By reclassifying the balance sheet according to the functional criterion, a comparison is made between the capital raised outside 

the enterprise (equity and 

financial indebtedness) and net investments by understanding them to be the total capital invested (patrimonial state assets) net 

of operating debts. The functional criterion is based on the concept that a firm's solvency is egged on its ability to generate 

necessary and sufficient resources to meet its financial needs. 
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In summary terms, the various definitions of NFP identified in the document issued by the National Foundation of Certified Public 

Accountants are as follows: 

 

Version 1 National Foundation of Certified Public Accountants, document September 15, 2015 

 

 

Net short-term first-tier financial position =  

liquid financial assets 

   - Short-term financial debts 

 

 

Version 2 National Foundation of Certified Public Accountants, document September 15, 2015 

 

Net financial position of short-term second-tier = 

Readily liquid financial assets 

+ Short-term financial assets 

- Short-term financial debts 

 

 

Version 3 National Foundation of Certified Public Accountants, document September 15, 2015 

 

Net financial position of medium and long term first level 

Readily liquid financial assets 

- Total financial debts 

 

 

 

Version 4 National Foundation of Certified Public Accountants, document September 15, 2015 

Net financial position of medium and long term second level 

Readily liquid financial assets 

+ Short-term financial assets 

- Total financial debts 

 

Version 5 National Foundation of Certified Public Accountants, document September 15, 2015 

Mid- and long-term net financial position of third tier or overall 

Readily liquid financial assets 

+ Short-term financial assets 

+ Medium- and long-term financial assets 

- Total financial debts 

 

The document issued by the National Foundation of Chartered Accountants, in addition to illustrating the definitions previously 

analyzed, highlighted the structure of NFP proposed by Asso-nime and the OIC 6 Debt Restructuring standard, no longer in force 

since 2017. 

Assonime proposes the following representation of NFP for the reclassification of financial statements according to the functional 

criterion (source Assonime Circular 12/1989). 

A. Net fixed assets (intangible, tangible, financial) 

B. Working capital 

(Inventories, trade receivables and other assets) - (trade payables, provisions for 

risks and charges and other debts) 

= C. Capital employed (A+B) 

D. SEVERANCE PAY 
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E. Net capital requirement (C-D) covered by: 

F. Equity capital 

G. Net financial debt (m/l-term borrowings, net financial debt 

net short-term) (i.e., net cash and cash equivalents) 

H. Net capital requirement (F+G) 

After setting out these pointers, the document of the National Foundation of Certified Public Accountants September 15, 2015 

refers to the definition of NFP highlighted in the OIC 6 standard, which we have already had to refer to. 

Although the document is no longer in use, it provides a definition of NFP (or net financial indebtedness) that is widely adopted 

and referred to by many authors and companies. The NFP illustration in the OIC 6 document stands out as the most widely used 

and agreed upon among the various definitions outlined above.  

The following definition of NFP is proposed in the OIC 6 standard: 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Other current financial assets 

Current financial receivables 

Current bank debt 

The current portion of the noncurrent debt 

Other current financial debts 

Current financial lease payables 

Net current financial debt (a) 

Noncurrent bank debt 

Bonds issued 

Other noncurrent financial debts 

Noncurrent financial lease payables 

Noncurrent financial debt (b) 

Net financial indebtedness or Net financial position (c = a +b) 

In summary therefore, the versions of the net financial position proposed by Assonime and OIC Principle 6 debt restructuring, 

respectively, are as follows: 

Version Assonime, document 12/1989 

 

A. Net fixed assets (intangible, tangible, financial) 

B. Working capital 

(Inventories, trade receivables and other assets) - (trade payables, provisions for 

risks and charges and other debts) 

= C. Capital employed (A+B) 

D. SEVERANCE PAY 

E. Net capital requirement (C-D) covered by: 

F. Equity capital 

G. Net financial debt (m/l-term borrowings, net financial debt 

net short-term) (i.e., net cash and cash equivalents) 

H. Net capital requirement (F+G) 

. Version standard OIC 6 debt restructuring 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Other current financial assets 

Current financial receivables 

Current bank debts 

Current portion of non-current debt 

Other current financial debts 

Current financial lease payables 

Net current financial debt (a) 

Non-current bank debt 
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Bonds issued 

Other non-current financial debts 

Non-current financial lease payables 

Non-current financial debt (b) 

Net financial debt or Net financial position (c = a +b) 

 

 

From the above, it is understood that a unanimously accepted notion of net financial position does not exist. In fact, in the doctrine 

and research centres, one finds very diverse concepts that, from time to time, are defined as synonyms of NFP. In paper No. 22 of 

2013, entitled “ The inclusion of indicators in the management report. The net financial position,” 2013 IRDCEC expresses this 

concept of variety about the notion of net financial position very clearly. That document states that “business-economics doctrine 

has not devoted ample space to the issue. Nevertheless, interpretative positions can be found that are sometimes not entirely 

convergent, leading to the formulation of different configurations of Net financial position. The issue is mainly attributable to the 

consideration (and relative interpretation) of the items that become part of the calculation: one alludes, in particular, to the 

declination of non-liquid/liquidable financial assets, given that while one part of scholars seems to exclude them, others vice versa 

seem to advocate it.” 

. After conducting a theoretical survey of the doctrinal proposals considered to be of most significant value, IRCDEC concludes by 

stating that “the review conducted so far makes it possible to highlight how, on a theoretical and methodological level, there 

coexist a variety of approaches identifying the net financial position, although there is no prevailing representation. Rather, it is 

necessary to pay the utmost attention to the correct interpretation of this magnitude, therefore specifying the calculation 

modalities on occasion undertaken, as these are strictly instrumental to the related cognitive fabby-ties.” 

In March 2024, the National Council of Certified Public Accountants CNDCEC, ema-ned a document on EBITDA AND NFP entitled 

“EBITDA and NFP for valuation and negotiation purposes”, in which it reiterated the concept of NFP mentioned above. Specifically, 

this paper stated that NFP can be traced to the following equation: 

Borrowings (“interest bearing debt”) + Debts similar to borrowings (“debt like items”) + 

Severance pay and TFM - Cash and cash equivalents (“cash”) - Cash-like assets (“cash equiva-lents”) 

= Net financial position. 

In the IAS/IFRS accounting standards, the issue is addressed according to the logic of the CNDCEC mentioned in the above 

document. In that document, it is pointed out that “Although this is not the most appropriate place for a complete discussion  of 

the approach to 

calculation of NFP according to the dictates of international accounting standards, we nevertheless consider it worthwhile to to 

provide some hints on the most relevant and impactful elements in the calculation of NFP should the perspective adopted was 

that of IFRS. In particular, we intend to make specific reference to the application of accounting standard IFRS 16, which provides, 

as already mentioned in the section dedicated To EBITDA, there is a different accounting for leases and rent payable. According 

to financial reportings  statutory, there would be no relevance of either leases or rent expenses in terms of thecorporate debt 

position, since both of these items refer to assets owned bythird parties and, therefore, outside the perimeter of the balance 

sheet 

The only relevance is the costs related to them 

related to them, under the item “use of third party assets,” which is included among the costs of production in the profit and loss 

account, and thus, have a relative impact on the calculation of economic margins. The approach of the IFRS 16, on the other hand, 

provides for the prevalence of “substance” over “form” in the classification of the item and therefore requires evidence of a de 

facto liability as a result of the existence of a a long-term contract that commits the company to the payment of periodic fees, and 

which therefore provides for cash outflows on a periodic and multi-year basis . Therefore, the application of this principle requires 

breaking down the item of cost for the use of third parties and dividing it into two separate components, one relating to the 

equivalent depreciation charge on the value of the leased asset and the second equivalent to the share of interest implicit in the 

lease/rental contract. In this way, the previous item of cost for using leased assets is excluded in full from the calculation of EBITDA, 

which increases by an equivalent amount. At the same time, the residual value of the lease and lease is assimilated among the 

company's financial debts, and the equivalent value of the leased asset, net of related depreciation, is included among the 

company's assets. As a result, NFP undergoes an increase in the residual amount of leases and rent payable." 

To conclude this excursus about the definition of NFP expressed by the various authors and the leading accounting organizations, 

the definition of NFP expressed by ESMA is also recalled. According to ESMA, NFP should be calculated as follows: 

A Cash and cash equivalents 
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B Cash and cash equivalents 

C Other current financial assets 

D Cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) 

E Current financial debt (including debt instruments, but excluding the portion 

current portion of non-current financial debt) 

F Current part of non-current financial debt 

G Current financial debt (E+F) 

H Net current financial debt (G-D) 

I Non-current financial debt (excluding current portion and debt instruments) 

J Debt instruments 

K Trade and other non-current payables 

L Current financial debt (I+J+K) 

M Total financial debt (H+L) 

Finally, it should be noted that the ESMA template does not include medium- to long-term financial asset items. 

It is clear from the above that it is essential that in the financial reporting in the management report, the reference to the net 

monetary position is accompanied not only by the amounts of this aggregate but also by its exact composition. The absence of 

this information invalidates the usefulness of the indicator included in the disclosure destined to third parties since the lack of 

knowledge of the content of the summation that leads to the determination of NFP prevents any assessment of the company's 

situation expressed in terms of net financial position. 

 

4. FINANCIAL RATIOS BASED ON NET FINANCIAL POSITION 

Net financial position is an absolute value that provides valuable information to third parties who wish to delve deeper into a 

company's economic situation. 

As we pointed out in the previous pages, the notion of NFP varies depending on the author or research centre. We will not 

repeat what we have highlighted in paragraph No. 4 about the variety of NFP concepts found in the doctrine and in the documents 

issued by various corporate research centres. 

After what has been pointed out, we take it for granted that any judgment of a company's net financial position must be 

accompanied not only by knowledge of the value of this aggregate but also by its analytical composition. 

However, it's important to note that the absolute value of NFP is just one piece of the puzzle. NFP provides a wealth of 

information about a company's financial situation, making it a multifaceted tool for analysis. 

The analysis of the absolute value trend represents information that is, indeed, of primary relevance, primarily if the NFP 

represents a complete aggregate such as that proposed by the principle OIC 6 Debt Restructuring. Alongside this information, 

however, an analysis that assumes a comparison between the absolute value of NFP and other indicators directly or indirectly 

connected to this summation can be added. 

Therefore, ratios that, in the numerator or denominator, involve NFP must be considered a necessary step for the corporate 

financial analysis to be considered complete and comprehensive. 

The 4 most relevant ratios whose calculation involves knowledge of the absolute amount of NFP will be analyzed below. As 

with all indicators, it is evident that the analysis can be profitably conducted only if implemented inter-temporally. The point value 

of a ratio is, in fact, not very meaningful. Only considering the temporal trend over the years of the indicator can, on the other 

hand, provide helpful information about the company's financial situation, the deepening of which requires always the focus not 

on a particular ratio but on the temporal trend of the latter. 

Lastly, it's crucial to remember that the analysis by ratios is systemic in nature, akin to the financial reporting it's derived from. 

Therefore, the analysis of the indicators that will be discussed below must always be conducted in conjunction with a 

comprehensive analysis of every other corporate ratio. Without this comprehensive approach, it's possible to make judgments 

about a ratio's performance that are erroneous and potentially misleading, as they don't consider all other corporate ratios. 

A very useful ratio for the purpose of net financial position analysis is as follows: 

Comparison of net working capital, net of financial items and NFP: 

 

 

net working capital, net of financial items /NFP 
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This ratio compares non-financial net working capital derived from the algebraic sum of 'non-financial short-term assets and 

non-financial short-term liabilities' total net financial position. 

This indicator shows the ability of non-financial net working capital to create valuable sources to cover, if negative, or to 

increase, if positive, NFP.  

As can be seen, this indicator exhibits a discrepancy between the numerator and denominator: the numerator is a short-term 

post, while the denominator represents a value that contains both short-term data and long-term values (assuming reference is 

made to overall NFP). 

For this reason, it may be helpful to disaggregate the values so that the posts are compared according to their natural maturity. 

Short-term items compared with short-term NFP and long-term items compared with long-term NFP. 

In this case, the above ratio is duplicated so as to separate the short-term analysis from the long-term analysis. If one decides to 

go that route, the indicators to be used are as follows 

 

Comparison of short-term non-financial assets net of short-term liabilities without financial items and short-term NFP: 

 

short-term non-financial assets net of short-term liabilities without financial items / short term NFP  

 

 

 

Comparison of long-term non-financial assets net of long-term liabilities without financial items and long-term NFP: 

long-term non-financial assets net of long-term liabilities without financial items / long-term NFP termine 

 

 

Another useful indicator is comparing a dynamic figure, such as cash flow, and a static figure, such as NFP. 

This ratio shows the ability of cash flow to cover any negative NFP or to increase upbeat NFP. 

For the ratio to provide helpful information about the ability of the net financial position to be covered/increased by the firm's 

cash flow, it is appropriate to focus on the characteristic monetary cash flow, i.e., the cash flow resulting from the firm's 

characteristic operations. 

Characteristic cash flow, which represents a liquid value, plays a significant role in a firm's financial health. It is the result of the 

interplay between characteristic revenues transformed into monetary sources and characteristic costs that create liquid 

requirements. 

However, liquidity is one of many references for calculating cash flows. 

The same national accounting standards issued in 2005 (and before that, in 1994 published by the National Commission of 

Chartered Accountants for the Statement of Accounting Standards), in the OIC document No. 12 Composition and schedules of 

the financial reportings for the financial year of mercantile, industrial and service enterprises, explain how the concept of financial 

resources as the basis of the statement of accounts could be interpreted in two ways: 

1) cash in hand and at banks (cash and active bank) plus other immediately withdrawable cash deposits without risk of change in 

value; 

2) net working capital i.e., the excess of short-term or current assets over short-term or current debts. 

Both the document concerning the composition and formats of financial reporting of mercantile, industrial service enterprises, 

issued by the Commission for the Station of Accounting Standards in January 1994 and the 2005 standard OIC No. 12 Composition 

and formats of financial reporting of mercantile, industrial and service enterprises emphasized that the preparation of the cash 

flow statement could be developed, not only by having liquidity as a reference but by focalizing its attention to net working capital.   

About this type of flow, however, the OIC No. 12 document highlighted that the cash flow statement in terms of liquidity, and in 

particular the one expressed in terms of cash disponibility flows, should be attributed to a superior signalling capacity of the 

financial situation compared to the cash flow statement expressed in terms of working capital, which, according to the OIC 12 

standard, nevertheless continued to retain its informative validity. 

2014, the standard OIC 10 Statement of Cash Flows was published and amended in 2016. In that document, it was pointed out 

that flows expressed in terms of net working capital did not have acceptable informative value and, therefore, standard OIC 10 

Statement of Cash Flows required the determination of flows expressed in terms of cash (cash and bank) only. 
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Despite this, the writer believes it is relevant to understand the methodology for determining net working capital flows, not so 

much for preparing the statement of cash flows but to comprehensively and comprehensively understand the mechanism for 

deciding cash flows. Only understanding net working capital flows makes it possible to understand the indirect determination of 

cash flow, an operation illustrated in the following pages. A perfect understanding of these flows also makes it possible to master, 

in an accomplished and agile manner, each step related to calculating cash flows and preparing the statement. 

It's for this reason that we've made a deliberate decision to also tackle the issue of cash flow expressed in terms of Characteristic 

Net Working Capital. This decision underscores the importance of understanding net working capital flows, which although a 

technical step with limited informative value, is of high practical utility for the overall understanding of cash flows. 

The determination of flows expressed in terms of net working capital involves the recognition of transactions that directly have 

impacted the reference aggregate taken as the basis of the statement. The importance of identifying, in a precise manner, the 

cost-impacting values of such a micro-summit appears evident. This aggregate has, over time, been the subject of different 

interpretations by both doctrine and practice. The writer believes that the most appropriate concept for implementing a financial 

analysis is net working capital confined to typical business assets.  

This aggregate is identified with the phrase characteristic net working capital.  

Since working capital focuses its attention on short-term assets and liabilities, it is clear that characteristic net working capital 

consists of all items inherent in the typical asset marked by maturities, of collection or payment, of a current or short-term nature. 

This focus on short-term assets and liabilities is a key aspect of financial analysis, as it provides a snapshot of a business's 

immediate financial situation. In simplifying and summarizing terms, it can be said that characteristic NET WORKING CAPITAL 

consists of cash, trade receivables, inventories, and accounts payable (this last item must be deducted). 

Relevant transactions in the context of determining ca-rateristic net working capital flows are only those that change at least one 

of the items included in the above sub-aggregate. To understand the difference between characteristic net working capital flow 

and cash flow, consider this simple example: 

sales 1000 

customers at 1/1: 100, at 12/31: 110 

Based on these figures, the revenue-related cash flow amounts to 990. In fact, the fact that a part of sales was the subject, not of 

collection, but of the birth of a commercial credit does not create a cash flow for the amount equal to the increase in customers.  

If, on the other hand, the flow expressed in terms of characteristic net working capital is to be determined, the following reasoning 

must be carried out: have sales-related revenues impacted on characteristic net working capital? The answer is positive, and, in 

particular, the flow expressed in terms of characteristic net working capital is equal to all sales proceeds because, in part, the 

proceeds changed the cash and, in part, the accounts receivable from customers. Since both items are part of characteristic net 

working capital, the cash flow, expressed in terms of the latter aggregate, is equal to the entire amount of sales. 

It can be understood from this simple example why flows expressed in terms of net working capital are less significant than those 

described in terms of cash. 

Take, for example, the case where revenues amounted to 2,000 and receivables from customers increased by precisely this 

amount. In terms of cash flows, there would be no source. If, on the other hand, the flows are to be expressed in terms of 

characteristic net working capital, the source amounts to exactly the amount of revenues, i.e., 2,000. 

Identifying a source equal to 2,000 highlights how a financial situation, if monitored in terms of characteristic net working capital, 

could appear more than satisfactory even without cash and active bank movements. Suppose, for example, that in the enterprise 

in which revenues have created a source equal to 2,000, even in the absence of cash movements, a requirement related to 

purchases of raw materials of 1,000 is realized, corresponding to which no debt has arisen. Reasoning in terms of characteristic 

net working capital, the firm would have a source that doubles the requirement amount and shows substantial “financial balance.” 

While it's true that the enterprise, in the hypothesis previously considered, could face serious financial problems, it's important 

to understand the gravity of these issues. These problems are not just financial in a broad sense, but they are specifically related 

to the enterprise's liquidity. In fact, in the face of outgoings equal to 1000, there would be no monetary income, which could 

severely impact the enterprise's financial health.  

This simple example shows how the financial analysis carried out in terms of flows expressed as a change in characteristic net 

working capital has peculiarities such as making the interpretation of the results obtainable through the preparation of the 

statement extremely delicate. 

For this reason, doctrine and practice agree that cash flows expressed in terms of liquidity are more meaningful. 

Since, however, the flows calculated as changes in Characteristic Net Working Capital, while significant less than those expressed 

in terms of liquidity, are of interest to some users of financial reporting, it is considered appropriate to highlight the concept 
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because a complete analysis, including of NFP, should be carried out considering financial flows expressed in terms of both 

Characteristic Net Working Capital and liquidity (or cash/banking assets) 

Characteristic net working capital flows identify items whose management action directly impacted at least one item constituting 

characteristic net working capital. 

About the determination of the latter aggregate, we have already had to point out how simplifying the reality, it consists of cash, 

active bank, short-term commercial receivables, cash and cash equivalents and, with a negative sign, trade payables sca-ve within 

twelve months. 

These essential elements of Characteristic Net Working Capital will likely have to be supplemented by all short-term items, which, 

in some way, correlate with the above items. Therefore, for example, advances from customers, advances to trade suppliers, etc., 

should also be included in Net Operating Working Capital. 

Cash flow expressed in terms of characteristic net working capital flows results from the contrast of typical revenues and expenses 

that have impacted Net Working Capital consisting only of typical business items. 

We have already needed to re-lactate how doctrine and practice agree on the informational prevalence of cash flows instead of 

those expressed in terms of Net Working Capital. Although the former is significantly more prevalent, it is necessary to fully 

understand the interconnections between the two types of values concerning business dynamics.  

Only a full understanding of the interrelationships between cash flows and characteristic Net Working Capital cash flows allows 

for the correct interpretation of the data determined in the analysis of financial reporting. This understanding is not just beneficial 

but necessary for accurate financial analysis. 

. The correct interpretation of the points of contact and the discrepancies identifiable between the two types of flows allows the 

complete and exhaustive understanding of the values highlighted in the statement-to, whether expressed in terms of liquidity 

and/or net working capital . 

First, it is necessary to highlight the connections between the different notions of characteristic cash flow.  

Cash flow can be understood as the flow of typical operations expressed in monetary or financial terms. The first concept is often 

called monetary cash flow or cash flow in the narrow sense. In contrast, the cash flow associated with typical operations expressed 

in terms of Net working capital is known as cash flow in the broad sense (or expressed in financial  terms). 

.The tables below show how cash flow can be determined by adjusting the flow from characteristic operations expressed in terms 

of net working capital with the amount of the same characteristic net working capital.  

Since Characteristic Net Working Capital includes cash (and active bank), the passage between the two types of cash flow must 

take this value into account. The transition from financial cash flow to cash flow can be made by algebraically adding to the first 

value, either the characteristic net working capital without cash or the  characteristic net working capital including cash adjusted, 

in turn, by the change between beginning cash and bank and ending cash and bank. 

These concepts can be summarized as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The above considerations allow us to illustrate the differences between characteristic financial cash flow and characteristic 

monetary cash flow.  

In the previous pages, the cash flow generated by typical operations we have previously referred to cash flow as the summation 

of “monetary” or “financial” costs and revenues. The procedure for calculating cash flow used up to this point provides that the 

flow of typical operations represents the result of the aggregation of positive and negative components of income expressed 

respectively in monetary terms if the flow to be determined is monetary or identified in financial terms if the cash flow of interest 

is the financial flow of typical operations in the broad sense. 

Cash flow, however, can also be determined by a calculation technique that considers the interconnections between characteristic 

net working capital, cash flow, and operating income. 

Per comprendere questa tecnica di calcolo si consideri il seguente esempio: 

 

 

 

CASH FLOW EXPRESSED IN FINANCIAL TERMS 

+ /-   NET WORKING CAPITAL  

CARATTERISTICO WITHOUT CASH 

 

CASH FLOW EXPRESSED IN FINANCIAL TERMS  
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Revenues  2000 

Purchases  400 

Rim. Initial  100 

Rim. Final  200 

Wages  130 

Ind. costs  30 

Customers 100 110 

Suppliers 200 220 

Stocks 100 200 

 

e basis of this data, the following table can be constructed.. 

REVENUES 

CHARACTE

RISTIC 

RECTIFI

CATION

S 

REVEN

UES CH. 

“MONE

TARY” 

COST 

CHARA

CT.. 

RECTIFI

CATION

S 

COSTS  

CHARA

CT.  

“MONE

TARY” 

2000 

revenues 

(10) 1990 400 

purchas

es 

(20) 380 

200 stocks (200) ----- 100 

initial 

stocks  

(100) ----- 

130 wage  130    

30 ind. 

costs 

 30    

      

2360 (210) 2150 500 (120) 380 

 

As can be seen, the sum of characteristic management revenues corresponds, by accounting and mathematical definition, to the 

algebraic sum of “monetary” revenues and corresponding adjustments. In the same way, total characteristic management costs 

equals the sum of monetary costs and corresponding adjustments. 

This implies that the sum of typical operating revenues expressed in monetary terms can be determined either directly by 

considering “monetary” revenues and costs or by algebraically adding the corresponding adjustments to typical operating 

revenues and costs. 

The sum of typical revenues and costs expressed in “monetary” terms identifies the cash flow carat-ristic cash flow (or cash flow 

in the narrower sense). 

The sum of the above typical operating expenses and revenues gives rise to the determination of characteristic cash flow 

expressed in Net Working Capital. 

The adjustment items, taken together, represent the Characteristic Net Working Capital. 

Therefore, as previously demonstrated, it is possible to state that the cash flow represents the algebraic sum of the flow from 

characteristic operations expressed in financial terms and the characteristic Net Working Capital. 

 

Generalization of this principle leads to the following mathematical formulation: 



The Net Financial Position: Doctrine Compared 

JEFMS, Volume 08 Issue 02 February 2025                       www.ijefm.co.in                                                              Page 1297 

REVENUES 

CHARACTE

RISTIC 

RECTIFICA

TIONS 

REVENUES 

CH. 

“MONETA

RY” 

COST 

CHARACT.. 

RECTIFICA

TIONS 

COSTS  

CHARACT.  

“MONETA

RY” 
 

REVENUES 

CHARACTE

RISTIC 

RECTIFICA

TIONS 

REVENUES 

CH. 

“MONETA

RY” 

COST 

CHARACT.. 

RECTIFICA

TIONS 

COSTS  

CHARACT.  

“MONETA

RY” 
 

REVENUES 

CHARACTE

RISTIC 

RECTIFICA

TIONS 

REVENUES 

CH. 

“MONETA

RY” 

COST 

CHARACT.. 

RECTIFICA

TIONS 

COSTS  

CHARACT.  

“MONETA

RY” 
 

REVENUES 

CHARACTE

RISTIC 

RECTIFICA

TIONS 

REVENUES 

CH. 

“MONETA

RY” 

COST 

CHARACT.. 

RECTIFICA

TIONS 

COSTS  

CHARACT.  

“MONETA

RY” 
 

REVENUES 

CHARACTE

RISTIC 

RECTIFICA

TIONS 

REVENUES 

CH. 

“MONETA

RY” 

COST 

CHARACT.. 

RECTIFICA

TIONS 

 

REVENUES 

CHARACTE

RISTIC 

RECTIFICA

TIONS 

REVENUES 

CH. 

“MONETA

RY” 

COST 

CHARACT.. 

 

X α A Y β B 

 

A - B = CASH FLOW FROM CHARACTERISTIC OPERATIONS OR CASH FLOW IN THE MONETARY SENSE (OR CASH FLOW IN THE 

NARROW SENSE) 

X - Y = FLOW OF CHARACTERISTIC OPERATIONS EXPRESSED IN TERMS OF CHARACTERISTIC NET CIRCOLANT CAPITAL OR 

FINANCIAL CASH FLOW (OR CASH FLOW IN THE NARROW SENSE) 

 ( X – α)  - ( Y – β)  = A – B 

BECAUSE THE ALGEBRIC SUM OF ADJUSTMENTS REPRESENTS THE CHARACTERISTIC NET WORKING CAPITAL: α - β = 

CHARACTERISTIC NET WORKING CAPITAL WITHOUT CASH 

At this point, it is necessary to ask what connection there is between financial cash flow expressed in terms of Net Working Capital 

and operating income from characteristic operations (GOP).  

The financial flow understood as the dynamic element impacting ca-rather Net Working Capital (cash flow in the broad or financial 

sense) is represented by the costs and revenues associated with the characteristic business operations from which, however, all 

typical negative income components that do not affect cash, trade receivables/debts, and inventories are excluded. In the context 

of financial cash flow, therefore, costs arising from financial year-end valuations are not considered, which, on the contrary, must 

be deducted from GOP instead. 

The last logical step is necessary for understanding the methodology that indirectly leads to the calculation of the monetary cash 

flow starting from a notion of income is the one that allows us to determine the cash flow of characteristic operations expressed 

in terms of liquidity considering, as an initial data, the profit of financial reporting. 

Since operating income is obtained by algebraically adding to GOP all patrimonial, financial, noncharacteristic by definition, and 

tax costs and revenues, it is evident that should the starting figure be operating income, monetary cash flow can be determined 

by adding to that figure, all noncharacteristic costs and revenues and any nonmonetary costs arising from year-end valuations. 

In simple terms, this principle can be summarized with a basic accounting formula.: 

OPERATING INCOME 

 

+NON-CASH COSTS ARISING FROM YEAR-END VALUATIONS 

 

+FINANCIAL, CAPITAL, NONCHARACTERISTIC COSTS BY DEFINITION AND TAX COSTS 

 

- FINANCIAL, CAPITAL, NONCHARACTERISTIC INCOME BY DEFINITION 

 

- WRITE-OFF OF TRADE RECEIVABLES 

 

+/ -  CHARACTERISTIC NET WORKING CAPITAL WITHOUT CASH 

 

________________________________________ 

 

CASH FLOW FROM CHARACTERISTIC OPERATIONS (MONETARY CASH FLOW) 

 

 

As can be seen from the results, the two cash flow calculation methodologies (direct and indirect) lead to the same result.  

From the writer's perspective, the direct cash flow calculation method, which involves summing up the 'monetary' costs and 

revenues that directly impact the cash or active bank, stands out as the most precise and understandable approach.  

The indirect method, while leading, for reasons of financial reporting accounting reconciliation, to an unimpeachable result, 

can be difficult to understand by those who have a reasonable basis of accounting culture.  

Indeed, it appears difficult to understand how a monetary amount can result from the summation of non-monetary values 

(operating income is not money, non-monetary costs do not represent cash movements, etc.). 
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This is logical, following the steps identified above. There is no doubt, however, that calculating cash flow by summing up costs 

and re-accruals that impacted cash is more immediately intelligible.   

Based on the above, the two ratios contrasting cash flow to net financial position are as follow 

Comparison of characteristic financial cash flow as a source of negative NFP coverage or positive NFP increase 

 

Financial Cash flow characteristic/NFP 

 

Comparison of monetary characteristic cash flow as a source of negative NFP coverage or positive NFP increase 

Monetary Cash flow  monetario characteristic/ NFP 

 

 

Both ratios measure the capacity of the characteristic cash flow, interpreted respectively as a financial or monetary source, as a 

source to cover negative NFP, or as a source that can increase favourable net financial position. 

The NFP/EBITDA ratio is supposed to express in how many years the company would be able to re -pay its financial debts if 

it used all of its "potential" operating flows (expressed by EBITDA) for that purpose. The ratio is widely used by the financial 

community, professionals, and banks as an indicator that can reveal a company's desirability.  

In some cases, the judgment of a company's financial position is based on net financial position performance instead 

of being determined by the juxtaposition of cash flow and NFP and is calculated by comparing NFP and EBITDA. The latter 

identifies a value many interpret as overall cash flow after interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization . 

One key to unlocking the power of the NFP/EBITDA ratio is understanding how NFP was determined. This understanding 

is not just a technical detail, but a crucial piece of knowledge that can help us interpret the ratio accurately and make 

informed financial decisions. 

It is noteworthy that this ratio, just as with the previous two ratios determined based on financial or cash flow, should, 

in theory, show how long it would take the company to pay off financial debt net of financial assets if it used the flow  from 

EBITDA. 

The writer believes that ratios calculated based on characteristic cash flow are, decidedly, more meaningful than this 

indicator.) 

Compariso between  NFP e EBITDA 

 

NFP/EBITDA 

 

The last ratio useful for understanding the relationship between sources that can increase NFP and close the negative NFP gap 

is the ratio that contrasts total turnover with NFP. 

Turnover, of course, should be interpreted as total characteristic revenues and, therefore, should be shown net of returns, 

rebates, discounts and direct taxes. 

Total turnover as a source that can bridge negative NFP or increase positive net financial position: 

 

 

Revenues /NFP  

 

Another ratio relevant to understanding the indebtedness of the firm using NFP as a comparison value is the following ratio: 

 

net financial position /Equity 

 

By contrasting NFP with Equity, this indicator highlights an aspect of debt due to the items that the analyst considers to be included 

in the calculation of the net financial position. The actual interpretation of the ratio depends, in large part, on the items included 

in NFP. As the component items change, the ratio interpretation also changes. 

 

5 CONCLUSIONS 

From what has been set out in the preceding pages, it can be seen that the notion of net financial position is not the univocal 

point. For this reason, whoever uses this aggregate must, first of all, choose the idea that comes closest to the reality that he 
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intends to highlight by using the net financial position and, furthermore must, in the documents intended for third parties, make 

explicit in an obvious way the way in which this aggregate is calculated . in the absence of such information about the content of 

the net financial position used by the analyst, the aggregate itself can be judged neither positive nor negative since, depending on 

the author or the body to which the calculum used by the analyst refers, the value takes on different meanings. It is, therefore, 

essential that the analyst clearly and analytically explain the way of calculating the net financial position used in the report 

intended for internal managers of the company or for third parties external to the company. 

 

REFERENCES 

1) Abbasi, A., Albrecht, C., Vance, A., & Hansen, J. (2012). MetaFraud: A Meta-Learning Framework 

2) For Detecting Financial Fraud, Mis Quartely, vol. 36, issue 4, pages 1293-1327 

3) Adelberg A.H., (1979) A Methodology for Measuring the Understandability of Financial Report Messages, Journal of Ac-

counting Research,Vol. 17, No. 2 ,  pages 565-592. 

4) Adelberg, A.H., (1983) “The accounting syntactic complexity formula: a new instrument for predicting the readability of 

selected accounting communications”, Accounting and Business Research, Summer 1983, pages 162-175 

5) Adelberg, A.H., Razek, J.R, (1984) The Cloze Procedure: A Methodology for Determining the Understandability of 

Accounting Textbooks, The accounting Review, Vol. 59, no. 1, pages 109-122 

6) Aghghaleh, S. F., Mohamed, Z. M., & Rahmat, M. M. (2016). Detecting Financial Statement Frauds in Malaysia: Comparing 

the Abilities of Beneish and Dechow Models. Asian Journal of Accounting and Governance, pages 57-65 

7) Albrecht W. S., d Sack R. J. (2001) Accounting Education: Charting the Course Through a Perilous Future, Accounting 

Education Series 16, American Accounting Association 

8) Alexander D., Britton A , Jorissen A., (2007) International financial reporting and analysis, Thomson. 

9) Alexander D., (1993) A European true and fair view? European accounting review, vol 2, issue n. 1. 

10) Alexander, D. and H. R. Schwencke (1997). Accounting changes in Norway: a description and analysis of the transition 

from a continental towards an anglo-saxon perspective on accounting. 20th Annual Congress of the European Accounting 

Association. Graz, Austria. 

11) Alexander, D.  and H. R. Schwencke, (2003). Accounting change in Norway, European Accounting Review vol. 12, issue 3, 

p. 549-566. 

12) Alexander, D., Jermakowicz E, (2006). A true and fair view of the principles/rules debate, Abacus, Vol. 42, n. 2. 

13) Alexander, D., Nobes C. (2013). Financial accounting: an international introduction, Pearson.  

14) Ankarath N., KJ Mehta K.J.,  Ghosh T.P.,  Alkafaji Y.A. ,( 2010), Understanding IFRS fundamentals: international financial 

reporting standards, John Wiley and Son. 

15) Aris, N. A., Arif, S. M., Othman, R., & Zain, M. M. (2015). Fraudulent Financial Statement Detection Using Statistical 

Techniques: The Case Of Small Medium Automotive Enterprise. The Journal of Applied Business Reserch, vol. 31, issue 4, 

pages 1469-1478. 

16) Avi M.S, (2017), in Management accounting volume II. Cost analysis, EIF-e.book  

17) Avi, M.S., (2018), Understandability in  Italian Financial Reporting  and  jail: a link lived dangerously, European Journal of 

Economics, Finance, & Administrative Science, vol. 99. 

18) Ballwieser W., G. Bamberg, M.J. Beckmann, H. Bester, M. Blickle, R. Ewert, A. Wagenhofer and M. Gaynor (2012). Agency 

theory, information, and incentives. Springer Science & Business Media. 

19) Baines, A., & Langfield-Smith, K. (2003). Antecedents to Management Accounting Change: a  

20) Structural Equation Approach, Accounting, Organizations and Society, vol.28, Issue 7, pages 675-698. 

21) Barth M.E., (2008) Financial Reporting Transparency, The Journal of Accounting, Auditing, and Finance, Vol 23, Issue 2,, 

pages. 173-190. 

22) Barth, M. E (2014)., Measurement in Financial Reporting: The Need for Concepts, Accounting Horizons, Vol. 28, No. 2, 

pages. 331-352.  

23) Barret, E. and Fraser, L.B., (1977). Conflicting roles in budgeting for operations. Harvard  

24) Business Review, July August, pages 137-146. 

25) Baskerville R.F.,  Rhys H., (2014), A Research Note on Understandability, Readability and Translatability of IFRS, Accademic 

Paper.  

26) Beest F., Braam G., Boelens S., (2009) Quality of Financial Reporting: measuring qualitative characteristics, NiCE Working 

Paper 09-108, April  

27) Beneish, M. D. (1999). The detection of earnings manipulation. Financial Analysts Journal, vol 55, issue 1, pages24–36. 

https://scholar.google.it/citations?user=bgmH0sAAAAAJ&hl=it&oi=sra
https://books.google.it/books?hl=it&lr=&id=Z8skEGBkqYQC&oi=fnd&pg=PR8&dq=understandability+in+financial+reporting&ots=XsLXq79aq9&sig=XrlAQPaEUEtFrsB5O0jg5RwIWDo
https://scholar.google.it/citations?user=xhCvA_sAAAAJ&hl=it&oi=sra
https://scholar.google.it/citations?user=PpzOlUMAAAAJ&hl=it&oi=sra
https://books.google.it/books?hl=it&lr=&id=b2KtpKbSnN4C&oi=fnd&pg=PP8&dq=understandability+in+financial+reporting&ots=ZcIxFw9jx2&sig=vE29TIGndHgqEpO9jYh7xF_ln_c
https://books.google.it/books?hl=it&lr=&id=b2KtpKbSnN4C&oi=fnd&pg=PP8&dq=understandability+in+financial+reporting&ots=ZcIxFw9jx2&sig=vE29TIGndHgqEpO9jYh7xF_ln_c
http://journals.sagepub.com/author/Barth%2C+Mary+E
https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/cf_dev/AbsByAuth.cfm?per_id=99028
https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/cf_dev/AbsByAuth.cfm?per_id=328402


The Net Financial Position: Doctrine Compared 

JEFMS, Volume 08 Issue 02 February 2025                       www.ijefm.co.in                                                              Page 1300 

28) Benston, G. J., M. Bromwich, R.E. Litan, and A. Wagenhofer, (2006). Worldwide financial reporting: The development and 

future of accounting standards. Oxford University Press. 

29) Boer, G. (2000) ‘Management Accounting Education: Yesterday, Today and Tomorrow’, Issues in Accounting Education,  

Vol 15, Issue 2, pages 313 – 321  

30) Bunce, P., Fraser, R. and Woodcok, L., (1995), Advanced budgeting: a journey to advanced management system. 

Management Accounting Research, 6, 253-265. 

31) Burchell S., C. Clubb, A. Hopwood, J. Hughes, J. Nahapiet, (1980). The roles of accounting, organizations and society, 

Accounting, Organizations and Society, Vol. 5, issue 1, Pages 5-27. 

32) Burchell S., C. Clubb A.G. Hopwood (1985). “Accounting in its social context: Towards a history of value added in the 

United Kingdom”, Accounting, Organizations and Society, Vol. 10, issue 4, pages 381-413. 

33) Cadez, S., & Guilding, C. (2008a). An Exploratory Investigation of an Integrated Contingency Model of Strategic 

Management Accounting. Accounting, Organizations and Society, Vol. 33, Isse 7, pages 836-863 

34) Chenhall, R. H. (2008). Accounting for the Horizontal Organization: A Review Essay. Accounting, Organizations and 

Society, Vom 33, Issue 4, pages 517-550. 

35) Chloe Y., Kan C., Budget depreciation: when budgeting early increases spending, (2021), Journ of consumer research, vol. 

47, issue 6, pages 937-958 

36) 19) Cristea, S. M. and Saccon, C. (2008) Italy between applying national accounting standards and IAS/ IFRS, in Romanian 

Accounting Profession’s Congress (Bucharest: CECCAR). 

37) Colombo G.E., (1996) La moda del falso in financial statement nelle indagini delle procure della repubblica, in Rivista delle 

società, issue 2 pages 713- 730 

38) Covaleski, M., Dirsmith, M.and Samuel, S. (1996), Managerial Accounting Research: the Contributions of Organizational 

and Sociological Theories, Journal of Management Accounting Research, Vol. 8, Issue 1, pages 1-35 

39) Covaleski, M.A., Evans, J.H. III, Luft, J.L. and Schields, M.D., (2003), Budgeting research: Three theorical perspectives and 

criteria for selective integration., Journal of Management Accounting Research, Vol 15, Issue 1, pages  3-49. 

40) Dalnial, H., Kamaluddin, A., Sanusi, Z. M., & Khairuddin, K. S. (2014). Accountability in financial reporting: detecting 

fraudulent firms.  Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences, Issue 145, pages 61–69. 

41) Deatherage R.H.,  (2021)Security on a Budget, in Security Operations, Taylor and Francis Group. 

42) Delvaille, P., Ebbers, G. and Saccon, C. (2005) International financial reporting convergence: evidence from three conti-

nental European countries, Accounting in Europe, 2(1), pp. 137–164.14 

43) De Franco, G., S. P. Kothari and R.S..Verdi (2011). “The Benefits of Financial Statement Comparability”, Journal of Ac-

counting Research, Vol. 49, pages 895–931.  

44) Di Pietra, R,  McLeay S.,  Riccaboni A.,(2001) “Regulating Accounting Within the Political and Legal System“,Contemporary 

Issues in Accounting Regulation, Chapter 3, Pages 59-78, Springer. 

45)  Doxey C.H., (2021), The controller’s Toolkit, Wiley  

46) Ekholm, B. and Wallin, J., (2011). The Impact of Uncertainty and Strategy on the Perceived Usefulness of Fixed and Flexible 

Budgets. Journal of Business Finance and Accounting, vol 38, Issue 1, pages, 145-164. 

47) Epstein, M.J., Manzoni, J-F and Dávila, A., (2005). Performance Measurement and Management Control: Innovative 

Concepts and Practices, vol. 20. Esmerald Books,  

48) Epstein M.J., Manzoni J.F,   (2010) Performance Measurement and Management Control: Superior Organizational 

Performance, in Studies in Managerial and Financial Accounting, vol. 14, Emerald Books 

49) Ewer, Sid R., (2007), Transparency and Understandability, But for Whom? The CPA Journal; New 

York Vol. 77, Fasc. 2,   pages16-18,20-22.  

50) Fanning, K. M., & Cogger, K. O. (1998). Neural network detection of management fraud using published financial data. 

Intelligent Systems in Accounting, Finance & Management,vol. 7, Issue1, pages  21–41. 

51) Frow, N., Margisson, D. and Odgen, S., 2010. Continuous budgeting: Reconciling flexibility with budgetary control. 

Accounting, Organizations and Society, vol, 35, pages 444-461 

52) Gaganis, C. (2009). Classification techniques for the identification of falsified financial statements: a comparative analysis. 

Intelligent Systems in Accounting, Finance & Management, vol 16, issue 1, pages 207–229 

53) Ghandour D., (2021) Analytical review of the current and future directions of management accounti and control system, 

in European Journal of Accounting, Auditing and Fncance Research, vol 9, Issue 3, page 42-53 

54) Gharairi A.M. (2020) Management control and performance, International Journal of Management, vol 11, Issue 10, page 

2013-2023 

https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-1-4615-4589-7_3
https://www.wiley.com/en-us/search?pq=%7Crelevance%7Cauthor%3AChristine+H.+Doxey
https://www.bookdepository.com/author/Marc-J-Epstein
https://www.bookdepository.com/search/advanced?seriesId=121258
https://search.proquest.com/indexinglinkhandler/sng/au/Ewer,+Sid+R/$N;jsessionid=BF3DA4C87DDDC9A1A4061C15CC19CBA3.i-0537876b490e012c5
https://search.proquest.com/pubidlinkhandler/sng/pubtitle/The+CPA+Journal/$N/41798/OpenView/212233516/$B/6CD14C8C5F354A49PQ/1;jsessionid=BF3DA4C87DDDC9A1A4061C15CC19CBA3.i-0537876b490e012c5
https://search.proquest.com/indexingvolumeissuelinkhandler/41798/The+CPA+Journal/02007Y02Y01$23Feb+2007$3b++Vol.+77+$282$29/77/2;jsessionid=BF3DA4C87DDDC9A1A4061C15CC19CBA3.i-0537876b490e012c5


The Net Financial Position: Doctrine Compared 

JEFMS, Volume 08 Issue 02 February 2025                       www.ijefm.co.in                                                              Page 1301 

55) Godfrey, J.M., Chalmers K., (2007) Globalisation of Accounting Standards, Edgar Elgar. 

56) Haller, A. (2002) Financial accounting developments in the European Union: past events and future prospects, European 

Accounting Review vol 11 issue 1, pages 153-190. 

57) Haller A, P. Walton and B. Raffournier B. (2003). International accounting. Cengage Learning EMEA. 

58) Haller, A., B. Eierle (2004). The adaptation of German accounting rules to IFRS: a legislative balancing act, Accounting in 

Europe Vol. 1, Issue 1, pages 27-50 

59) Hope, J. and Fraser, R., (1997). Beyond budgeting… Breaking through the barrier to the third wave. Management 

Accounting, Vol. 75, Issue 11, pages 20-23. 

60) Hope, J. and Fraser, R., 2000. Beyond budgeting. Strategic Finance, Vol.82, Issue 4, pages 30-35. 

61) Hope, J. and Fraser, R., 2003. Who needs budgets? Harvard Business Review, Vol.81, Issue 2, pages   108-115. 

62) Hopwood, A. G. and Peter Miller (1994). Accounting as social and institutional practice. Vol. 24. Cambridge University 

Press. 

63) Hopwood, A.G., (1999). “Situating the practice of management accounting in its cultural context: an introduction”. Ac-

counting Organizations and Society, Vol. 24, Issue 5-6, pages 377-378. 

64) Hopwood, A. G., (1990). “Ambiguity, Knowledge and Territorial Claims: Some Observations on the Doctrine of Substance 

Over Form”, British Accounting Review, Vol. I. pages 79-87. 

65) Hopwood, A.G. (1990). “Accounting and the pursuit of efficiency”, Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal, Vol I, 

pages 238-249. 

66) Hopwood, A. G. (2000). “Understanding financial accounting practice”, Accounting, Organizations and Society Volume 

25, Issue 8, pages 763–766. 

67) Hopwood, A. G., (2007). Whither accounting research? The Accounting Review vol. 82, issue 5, p. 1365–1374. 

68) Hopwood, A. G., Chapman C. S., Shields M. D. (2007a). Handbook of management accounting research. Volume 1, Elsevier. 

69) Hopwood,A. G., Chapman C. S., Shields M. D. (2007b). Handbook of management accounting research. Volume 2, Elsevier. 

70) Hopwood,A.G., (2008). “Changing Pressures on the Research Process: On Trying to Research in an Age when Curiosity is 

not enough”, European Accounting Review, Vol. 17, Issue 1, pages 87-96. 

71) Hopwood, A.G., (2009). “Accounting and the environment”, Accounting, Organizations and Society, Vol. 34, Issues 3–4, 

pages 433–439 

72) Hopwood, A.G., (2009). “The economic crisis and accounting: Implications for the research community”, Accounting, Or-

ganizations and Society, Vol. 34, Issues 6–7, pages 797–802. 

73) Hopper A., Burns J, Yazdifar M., (2004). Management accounting education and training: putting management in and 

taking accounting out, Qualitative Research in Accounting and Management, 2004, vol 1, Issue 1, pages 1-29. 

74) Horngren, C.T., Sundem, G.L. and Stratton, W.O., (2013). Introduction to Management Accounting, Pearson.  

75) Jonas, G.J., Blanchet J. (2000), Assessing Quality of Financial Reporting, Accounting Horizons, Volume 14, Issue 3, pages 

353-363   

76) Jensen, M.C., 2001. Corporate budgeting is broken – let’s fix it. Harvard Business Review, vol. 89, Issue 10, pages.  94-

101. 

77) Johannessen J.A., (2021), Continuous change and communication in knowledge management. Emerald Publishing. 

78) Jones, M., Smith M., (2014) Traditional and alternative methods of measuring the understandability of accounting narra-

tives, Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal, Volume: 27 Issue: 1, pages 183-208 

79) Kaminski, K. A., Wetzel, T. S., & Guan, L. (2004). Can financial ratios detect fraudulent financial reporting? Managerial 

Auditing Journal, issue 1, pages 15–28. 

80) Kaplan R.S., Anderson S.  (2007) Time-driven activity-based costing. A simpler and more powerful path to higher profits, 

Harvard business school press 

81) Katz B., (2019) The Acquisition Budget, Routledge 

82) Kirkos, E., Spathis, Ch., & Manolopoulos, Y. (2007). Data mining techniques for the detection of fraudulent financial 

statements. Expert Systems with Applications, vol. 32, issue 5, pages 995–1003. 

83) Kuhnle A., Kaiser J.P., Theiss F., Stricker NN., Lanza G., (2021) Desigingin and adattive production control system using 

reiforcement learning, Journal of Intelligent Manufacturing volume 32, issue 3, pages 855–876  

84) Lenard, M. J., & Alam, P. (2009). An historical perspective on fraud detection: from bankruptcy models to most effective 

indicators of fraud in recent incidents. Journal of Forensic & Investigative Accounting, issue 1, pages 1–27. 

85) Lewandoski R., Goncharuk A.G., Deforowsky J.J., (2020), Ideology, trust, and spirituality: A Framework for management 

control research in industry 4.0 era, The futur of Management Industriy 4.0 and Digitalization, issue 1, pages 72-91 

http://www.aaajournals.org/toc/acch/14/3
http://www.aaajournals.org/toc/acch/14/3
https://www.emeraldinsight.com/doi/full/10.1108/AAAJ-04-2013-1314
https://www.emeraldinsight.com/doi/full/10.1108/AAAJ-04-2013-1314
https://www.emeraldinsight.com/loi/aaaj
https://www.emeraldinsight.com/toc/aaaj/27/1
https://link.springer.com/journal/10845


The Net Financial Position: Doctrine Compared 

JEFMS, Volume 08 Issue 02 February 2025                       www.ijefm.co.in                                                              Page 1302 

86) Libby, T. and Lindsay, M., (2010), Beyond budgeting or budgeting reconsidered? A survey of North-American budgeting 

practice. Management Accounting Research, vol. 21, Issue 1, pages 56-75. 

87) Liodorova, J., & Voronova, I. (2019). Z-Score and P-Score for Bankruptcy Fraud Detection: A Case of The Construction 

Sector In Latvia. International Scientific Conference, 284-295 

88) Md Nasir, N. A., Ali, M. J., & Ahmed, K. (2019). Corporate governance, board ethnicity and financial statement fraud: 

evidence from Malaysia. Accounting Research Journal, vol. 32, issue 3, pages 514-531 

89) Meiryani, Azhar Susanto. 2018. The Influence of Business Process and Risk Management on The Quality of Accounting 

Information System. Journal of Theoretical and Applied Information Technology, vol 96, issue 9, pages 2626-2637. 

90) Miller G.J., Hildreth W.B., Rabin J., (2019) Performance-Based Budgeting, Routledge 

91) Mintzberg H, Qatrs J.A., (1985) Of strategies, deliberate and emergent, Strategic Management Studies Jouurnal, vol. 6, 

issue 1, pages 157-172 

92) Moisello A.M., (2021) ABC:evolution, problems of implementation and organizational variable, American Journal of in-

strial and business Management, Vol 2, issue 2, page. 55-63 

93) Morton, J.R., (1974) Qualitative Objectives of Financial Accounting: A Comment on Relevance and Understandability, 

Journal of Accounting Research, Vol. 12, No. 2, pages 288-298. 

94) Mouritsen, J., K. Kreiner (2016). Accounting, decisions and promises”, Accounting, Organizations and Society, Vol 49, 

pages 21-31. 

95) Morrel J, (2018) How to Forecast: a Guide for Business, Routledge 

96) Nillson, S., (1997) Understandability of Narratives in Annual Reports, Journal of Technical Writing and Communication, 

Vol 27, Issue 4, pages  361-384  

97) Nieschwietz, R. J., Schultz, J. J., & Zimbelman, M. F. (2000). Empirical Research on External Auditors' Detection of Financial 

Statement Fraud. Journal of Accounting Literature, vol. 19, issue 1, pages 190-246 

98) Nobes ,C.W., Aisbitt S. (2001). “The True and Fair Requirement in Recent National Implementations”, Vol. 31, No. 2, pages 

83-90.  

99) Nobes, C. W., M. Gee and A. Haller (2010). ‘The Influence of Tax on IFRS Consolidated Statements’, Australian Accounting 

Review, Vol. 7, No. 1, pages 97-122. 

100) Nobes, C.W., (2013). “The continued survival of international differences under IFRS”, Accounting and Business Research, 

Vol.43, No.2, pages 83-111.  

101) Nobes C. (2016). Towards an Assessment of Country Effects on IFRS Recognition Decisions and Measurement Estimations, 

Paper, Venezia. 

102) Nobes C. , Parker R., (2016), Comparative International Accounting, Pearson. 

103) Nobes C.W., , Stadler C. (2015) , The Qualitative Characteristics of Financial Information, and Managers’ Accounting De-

cisions: Evidence from IFRS Policy Changes , Accounting and Business Research, Vol 45, Issue 5, pages 572-601  

104) Obaidat, A. N., (2007) Accounting Information Qualitative Characteristics Gap: Evidence from Jordan, International 

Management Review Vol. 3 No. 2, pages 26-32 

105) Oderlheide, D. (2001). Transnational Accounting, Macmillan, London. 

106) Onushchenko S.V., Berezhna A.Y., Filonych, (2021), Budget Mechanism: Methodological Approach to and the Practice of 

Budget Decentralization, The Problems of Economy, Vol 47, Issue 1, pages 107-122 

107) Patel C, Day R., (1996) The influence of cognitive style on the undersandability of a professional accounting pronuncie-

ment of by accounting students, The British Accounting Review,  

108) Volume 28, Issue 2, Pages 139-154 

109) Perols, J. (2011), Financial Statement Fraud Detection: An Analysis of Statistical and Machine Learning Algorithms. 

Auditing: A Journal of Practice & Theory, vol.30, issue 1, pages 19–50 

110) Rankin, M., Stanton, P., McGowan, S., Ferlauto, K., & Tilling, M. (2012). Contemporary Issues in Accounting. Milton, Qld.: 

Wiley & Sons. 

111) Persons, O. (1995). Using financial statement data to identify factors associated with fraudulent financing reporting. 

Journal of Applied Business Research, vol 11, Issue 1, pages 38–46 

112) Persons, D. S. (2020). Using Financial Statement Data to Identify Factors Assosciated with Fraudulent Financial Report. 

Journal of Applied Business Research, vol. 11, issue 3 pages 38 - 46. 

113) Ravisankar, P., Ravi, V., Raghava R. G., & Bose, I. (2011). Detection of financial statement fraud and feature selection using 

data mining techniques. Decision Support Systems, vol 50, issue 3, pages 491–500. 

114) Salafia V., (1992,) La nota integrativa del financial statement, in Le società, vol  5, pages 340-348 

https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.2190/F7FC-HJA6-W2P5-U2J3
https://journals.sagepub.com/toc/jtwa/27/4
https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/cf_dev/AbsByAuth.cfm?per_id=1332981
https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/cf_dev/AbsByAuth.cfm?per_id=917762
https://ssrn.com/abstract=2598171
https://ssrn.com/abstract=2598171
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/08908389
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/08908389/28/2


The Net Financial Position: Doctrine Compared 

JEFMS, Volume 08 Issue 02 February 2025                       www.ijefm.co.in                                                              Page 1303 

115) Saleh, M. M. A.; Aladwan, M., Alsinglawi, O.,; Saleh, H. , Mahmoud I.,(2021), Predicting fraudulent financial statemetns 

using fraud detection models.. Academy of Strategic Management Journal, suppl. Special, vol 20, Issue 3;pages: 1-17. 

116) Samuelson, L.A., 1986. Discrepancies between the roles of budgeting. Accounting, Organizations and Society, Vol.11, 

Issue 1, pages 35-45. 

117) Scheen, W. (2004) International accounting standards – a ‘starting point’ for a common European taxbase? European 

Taxation, vol 44, issue 10, Pages. 426–440. 

118) Schorck E.M., Lefebre H.L., (2021), The good and the bad news about quality, CRC Press 

119) Schwaiger, W.S.A., (2015) The REA Accounting Model: Enhancing Understandability and Applicability, International 

Conference on Conceptual Modeling ,  Conceptual Modeling pages 566-573, Part of the Lecture Notes in Computer 

Science book series (LNCS, volume 9381) 

120) Simons, R.S., 1995. Levers of Control, Harvard Business School Press. 

121) Slighy N., Taffurelli V., Iber M.m Doyle A.S, (2021)Budgeting Lesson and Stories, in Growth, Creativity and Collaboration: 

Great Vision on a Great Lake, Routledge 

122) Smith, M., Taffler, R., (1992) Readability and Understandability: Different Measures of the Textual Complexity of 

Accounting Narrative, Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal, Vol. 5, Issue 4.  

123) Smith M., (2021), Who controls the past... controls the future', Public History Review, vol. 28, page 90-105 

124) Steven, M. FloryT., Phillips, J, Maurice Jr.,Tassin F., 1992 Measuring readability: A comparison of accounting textbooks, 

Journal of Accounting Education, Volume 10, Issue 1, Spring ,  pages 151-161 

125) Meiryani M., Modio M.J,,, (2021), Theory and Factors Influencing Fraud in Financial Statements: A Systematic Literature 

Review, ICEMC '21: 2021 The 6th International Conference on E-business and Mobile CommerceMay 2021 Pages 75–82 

126) Summers, S. L., & Sweeney, J. T. (1998). Fraudulently Misstated Financial Statements and Insider Trading: An Empirical 

Analysis. The Accounting Review, 73(1), 131-146 

127) Van der Stede, W.A., 2000. The relationship between two consequences of budgetary controls, budgetary slack creation 

and managerial short term orientation. Accounting, Organizations and Society, vol.  25, Issue 6, pages 609-622 

128) Wagenhofer, A. (2003). “Accrual-based compensation, depreciation and investment decisions." European Accounting 

Review, Vol. 12, Issue 2, pages 287-309 

129) Wagenhofer, A. (2006). “Management accounting research in German-speaking countries”, Journal of Management Ac-

counting Research vol. 18, Issue1, pages 1-19. 

130) Wagenhoferb, A., Göxa R.F. (2009). “Optimal impairment rules”, Journal of Accounting and Economics, Vol. 48, Issue 1, 

pages 2–16. 

131) Wagner J., Petera  P., Popesko B.,  Novák  P.,  Šafr K.,   (2021) Usefulness of the budget: the ,mediating effect of 

participative budgeting and budget-based evaluation and rewarding, Baltic Journal of Management, June 2021. 

132) Watzlawick P., Beavin J.H., Jackson D.D., (1971), Pragmatica della comunicazione umana- Astrolabio, 

Roma, 1971  

133) Webster T., Yee G., Web based energy information and control systems, (2021), River Publisher 

134) Wells, J. T. (1997). Occupational fraud and abuse, Obsidian Publishing. 

135) Wildavsky A, (2017) Budgeting and Governing, Routledge 

136) Wyrobek J., (2020) Application of machine learning models and artificial intelligence to analyze annual financial 

statements to identify companies with unfair corporate culture, Procedia Computer Science, Vol. 176,  Pages 3037-3046 

137) Zanotti M., (2006), Il nuovo diritto penale dell’economia, Giuffrè,  

138) Zeff S.A., (2013) , The objectives of financial reporting: a historical survey and analysis, Journal of Accounting and Business 

Research , Volume 43, - Issue 4, pages 262-327. 

139) Yuthas K.,  Rogers R.,  Dillard J.F., (2002) Communicative Action and Corporate Annual Reports, Journal of Business Ethics, 

Volume 41, Issue 1–2, pages 141–157.  

 

 

https://www.proquest.com/indexinglinkhandler/sng/au/Saleh,+Mousa+Mohammad+Abdullah/$N;jsessionid=90418BEE2BF5E9B8F30121F8E6DB1D92.i-02e8668ef39517f86
https://www.proquest.com/indexinglinkhandler/sng/au/Aladwan,+Mohammad/$N;jsessionid=90418BEE2BF5E9B8F30121F8E6DB1D92.i-02e8668ef39517f86
https://www.proquest.com/indexinglinkhandler/sng/au/Alsinglawi,+Omar/$N;jsessionid=90418BEE2BF5E9B8F30121F8E6DB1D92.i-02e8668ef39517f86
https://www.proquest.com/indexinglinkhandler/sng/au/Saleh,+Haneen+Mahmoud+Ibrahim/$N;jsessionid=90418BEE2BF5E9B8F30121F8E6DB1D92.i-02e8668ef39517f86
https://www.proquest.com/pubidlinkhandler/sng/pubtitle/Academy+of+Strategic+Management+Journal/$N/38745/OpenView/2541397603/$B/998F5940215E4CFCPQ/1;jsessionid=90418BEE2BF5E9B8F30121F8E6DB1D92.i-02e8668ef39517f86
https://link.springer.com/conference/er
https://link.springer.com/conference/er
https://link.springer.com/book/10.1007/978-3-319-25264-3
https://link.springer.com/bookseries/558
https://link.springer.com/bookseries/558
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/074857519290022W#!
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/074857519290022W#!
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/074857519290022W#!
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/07485751
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/07485751/10/1
https://dl.acm.org/doi/proceedings/10.1145/3472349
https://www.emerald.com/insight/search?q=Jaroslav%20Wagner
https://www.emerald.com/insight/search?q=Petr%20Petera
https://www.emerald.com/insight/search?q=Boris%20Popesko
https://www.emerald.com/insight/search?q=Petr%20Nov%C3%A1k
https://www.emerald.com/insight/search?q=Karel%20%C5%A0afr
https://www.emerald.com/insight/publication/issn/1746-5265
https://www.academia.edu/download/35761948/001_Pragmatica_Della_Comunicazione_Umana_1.pdf
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1877050920322535?via%3Dihub#!
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/18770509
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/18770509/176/supp/C
https://www.tandfonline.com/author/Zeff%2C+Stephen+A
https://www.tandfonline.com/toc/rabr20/current
https://www.tandfonline.com/toc/rabr20/current
https://www.tandfonline.com/toc/rabr20/43/4
https://www.tandfonline.com/toc/rabr20/43/4
https://link.springer.com/journal/10551
https://link.springer.com/journal/10551/41/1/page/1

